FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/14/2018 1:47 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/23/2018
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96214-6

**THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

JERRY PORTER and KAREN ZIMMER

Appellants,

v.

PEPPER E. KIRKENDOLL and CLARICE N. KIRKENDOLL

Respondents

TREATED AS A PETITION FOR REVIEW

**PEPPER E. KIRKENDOLL'S MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY
REVIEW**

J. MICHAEL MORGAN, PLLC
J. Michael Morgan
1800 Cooper Point Rd. SW
Olympia, WA 98502
(360) 292-7501
WSBA No. 18404

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with *Bloedel Timberlands Dev., Inc. v. Timber Indus., Inc.*, 28 Wn. App. 669, 626 P.2d 30 (1981), *Ventoza v. Anderson*, 14 Wn. App. 882, 545 P.2d 1219 (1976) and other cases which hold that a principal is liable based upon respondeat superior for a timber trespass committed by his agent if the hiring party directed the agent to commit the trespass?
- B. Whether the Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with *Vanderpool v. Grange Ins. Ass’n*, 110 Wn.2d 483, 756 P.2d 111 (1998), *Glover for Cobb v. Tacoma Gen. Hosp.*, 98 Wn.2d 708, 658 P.2d 1230 (1983) and other cases which hold that a principal is released by operation of law as a result of a release of the agent if that agent is solvent?
- C. Whether the Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with *LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 117, 330 P.3d 190 (2014), *Blueberry Place Homeowners Ass’n v. Northward Homes, Inc.*, 126 Wn. App. 352, 110 P.3d 1145 (2005) and other cases which hold that a litigant may not seek equitable indemnity under the ABC Rule where that litigant’s actions had a close nexus to the subject matter of the original litigation?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This litigation arose from the March 18, 2014 accidental cutting of 51 Douglas Firs. Kirkendoll, the defendant below, owns a parcel of unoccupied Designated Forest Land in rural Lewis County, Washington described as Lot 13 of Segregation Survey recorded under Auditor's File No. 3103393. (CP 289, 299) Jerry Porter and Karen Zimmer, the plaintiffs below (collectively referred to as "Porter") own the adjacent forested Lot 12 of the same Segregation survey.

The Porter and Kirkendoll properties share an express 60 foot wide access easement over a private road called Madison Drive. (CP 289, 307) The east boundary of Kirkendoll's Lot 13 is the west easement line. (CP 313) Based on an old survey and his observation of survey monuments over the years, Kirkendoll assumed that he owned to the west shoulder of the as-built Madison Drive. (CP 48, 305)

On March 18, 2014, Kirkendoll hired G & J Logging ("G & J") to log Lot 13. Kyle Peters ("Peters") is the owner of G & J. G & J and Peters are referred to below as the "G & J defendants." G & J subcontracted the tree cutting to Boone's Mechanical Cutting, Inc., owned by Daniel "Boone" Sheets and Jennifer Sheets. (CP 94) The subcontractor defendants are collectively referred to below as the "Boone Defendants."

The G & J Defendants and the Boone Defendants are collectively referred to below as the “Loggers.”

Before directing the Loggers where to cut on March 20, 2014, Kirkendoll and Peters walked the property. Peters downloaded and reviewed aerial photos before walking the property with Kirkendoll. They found a survey stake along Madison Drive and stakes on two interior corners. (CP 183-87) Kirkendoll told Peters that he owned all of the timber to the west of Madison Drive. Peters did not see anything on the ground that would cause him to doubt such representations (CP 188).

Kirkendoll did not realize that the as-built roadway meanders within the 60’ wide recorded easement and that his ownership ends approximately 10’ to the southeast of the as-built roadway. Therefore, when the Loggers clear-cut Kirkendoll’s trees up to the shoulder of the as-built Madison Drive, they cut 51 trees located on Porter’s fee title (CP 139, 188, 332)

Porter sued Kirkendoll and the Loggers, alleging that “defendants then, acting in concert for their joint benefit,” converted Porter’s trees. The Amended Complaint seeks one award of damages jointly and severally against all Defendants based upon the timber trespass statute, RCW 64.12.030 and the waste statute, RCW 4.24.630. (CP 1-3)

The G & J defendants and the Boone defendants pled fault of other parties as affirmative defenses and also filed crossclaims against all co-defendants for indemnity and contribution. (CP 104-09, 110-15)

On October 19, 2016, Porter settled with and released the Boone Defendants and the G & J Defendants pursuant to identical CR 2A Settlement Agreements, in exchange for payment of a collective \$125,000.00, with assignments to Porter of “[a]ll claims and causes of action the settling defendants have against defendants [Kirkendoll].” (CP 65, 67)

Porter filed a motion seeking partial summary judgment that Kirkendoll was liable for equitable indemnity, and also that the waste statute applied. (CP 27) Kirkendoll filed a counter motion requesting summary judgment dismissing Porter’s remaining claims on the bases that: (1) the timber trespass statute, not the waste statute controlled; (2) the Loggers had no indemnity rights to assign because their settlement did not comply with RCW 4.22.060 and other parts of the Tort Reform Act (TRA); and (3) Porters’ settlement with and release of the Loggers extinguished the timber trespass claims against Kirkendoll based upon the law of agency. (CP 81) Kirkendoll also filed a motion to exclude Porter’s untimely disclosed rebuttal expert, Galen Wright.

On December 8, 2016 the Trial Court, Hon. Nelson Hunt, entered

an Order Granting Counter Motion of Defendants Kirkendoll for Summary Judgment, dismissing all Porter's remaining claims against Kirkendoll. The Court also granted Kirkendoll's motion to exclude Galen Wright. (CP 205)

Porter appealed the dismissal of Porter's claims for waste, timber trespass, equitable indemnity and contribution, as well as the exclusion of his rebuttal expert. The Court of Appeals upheld the dismissal of Porter's waste and contribution claims; reversed the dismissal of Porter's timber trespass and equitable indemnity claims; and held that the Superior Court had abused its discretion in excluding Mr. Wright's testimony.

Kirkendoll respectfully requests that this Court accept review of the Courts of Appeals' reversal of the Trial Court's dismissal of (1) Porter's timber trespass claims and (2) Porter's equitable indemnity claims on the basis that the decision conflicts with prior decisions of this Court as well as prior decisions of the Court of Appeals.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with Washington cases holding that an agency relationship exists between one who hires a logger on and the logger, where the hiring party directs the logger to commit a timber trespass.

The Court of Appeals premised its reversal of dismissal of Porter's timber trespass and equitable indemnity claims on the theory that since

Porter would have had a cause of action against Kirkendoll independent of the Loggers, the Loggers were not his agents. This holding ignores the fact that all defendants were sued jointly and severally for the same trespass. The holding conflicts with *Ventoza v. Anderson*, 14 Wn. App. 882, 545 P.2d 1219 (1976), *aff'd* 92 Wn.2d 869, 602 P.2d 357 (1979), which holds that one is not responsible for the timber trespass of an independent contractor “unless the trespass is the result of the advice or direction of the principal, or unless the principal has notice of the trespass and fails to interfere. *Ventoza*, 114 Wn. App. at 894-95.

The essential elements of an agency relationship are control and consent. *Yong Tao v. Heng Bin Li*, 140 Wn. App. 825, 831, 166 P.3d 1263 (2007); *O'Brien v. Hafer*, 122 Wn. App. 279, 283, 93 P.3d 930 (2004). The Court of Appeals incorrectly interprets *Bloedel Timberlands Dev., Inc. v. Timber Indus., Inc.*, 28 Wn. App. 669, 626 P.2d 30 (1981) to hold that an agency relationship did not exist between Kirkendoll and the Loggers because Kirkendoll did not have the right to control the *manner* in which the trees were to be cut. This reading of the case misses the critical element of “control,” the *selection* of which trees to cut.

In *Bloedel*, the trial court awarded damages in favor of an adjoining property owner (Bloedel) against a timber purchaser Timber Industries, Inc. (referred to below as “TI”) which had contracted with M &

M Logging, a timber contractor, pursuant to a logging contract specifying that the loggers were independent contractors. *Id.*, 28 Wn. App. at 673-74. TI's field agent, who was assigned the task of supervising the loggers, failed to advise the loggers of the correct boundary lines, causing the loggers to mistakenly cut several trees on Bloedel's adjoining parcel. *Id.*, at 672-73. The trial court awarded treble damages for timber trespass jointly and severally against both TI and M & M based upon agency. TI appealed, claiming that M&M Logging had committed the timber trespass as an independent contractor rather than as its agent. *Id.*, 28 Wn. App. at 673.

The Court of Appeals rejected this argument and affirmed the trial court's finding that the loggers were the agents of TI because TI retained the right to control which trees were being cut due to the presence of TI's field supervisor on the job:

The crucial factor is the right of control which must exist to prove agency. . . . [C]ontrol establishes agency only if the principal controls the manner of performance, in this case the actual cutting.

Id., at 674. Clearly the *Bloedel* Court was referring to the selection of trees to cut, not the selection of cutting methods or which tools to use. As in Kirkendoll's case, the only material aspect of the "actual cutting" was the *location* of the cutting. In summary, *Bloedel* is authority for Kirkendoll's position, not Porter's. Kirkendoll exclusively controlled the

selection of which trees the Loggers were to cut, rendering all of the other potential indices of control (*e.g.*, details as to which tools and equipment to use, etc.) immaterial. In summary, the Court of Appeals misapplied *Bloedel* in holding that no agency relationship existed between Kirkendoll and the Loggers.

B. The Court of Appeals decision below is inconsistent with Washington case law mandating that Porter's settlement with and release of a solvent agent (the Loggers) extinguished the remaining timber trespass claims against the principal (Kirkendoll) as a matter of law.

Citing *Vanderpool v. Grange Ins. Ass'n*, 110 Wn.2d 483, 487, 756 P.2d 111 (1998), the Court of Appeals acknowledges that a principal is released by operation of law as a result of a release of the agent if that agent is solvent. Yet the Court concludes paradoxically that release of the Loggers *did not* extinguish Porter's remaining timber trespass claims against Kirkendoll, because Porter had a cause of action against Kirkendoll individually for the timber trespass. The failure of this analysis is that it does not consider the nature of the timber trespass tort both as pled in Porter's Amended Complaint and in reality, which amounts to an indivisible harm (loss of 51 trees) caused by concerted action by jointly and severally liable defendants, giving rise to a single recovery of damages. Kirkendoll exercised exclusive control and direction over which trees the Loggers were to cut. Therefore, Kirkendoll and the Loggers were

jointly and severally liable, and Porter could have collected 100% of his damages out of any one of the Defendants. One only need to pose a hypothetical in which a defendant in Kirkendolls' position had absconded from the jurisdiction or filed for bankruptcy. In such instance, Porter could sue the Loggers, or any of them, to collect 100% of his damages. However, Porter only gets one recovery. Therefore, his settlement with a solvent agent (the Loggers) extinguished his claims against the principal (Kirkendoll) as a matter of law because Porter is deemed to have been made whole.

The Court of Appeals incorrectly rejected Kirkendoll's respondeat superior arguments based upon *Glover v. Tacoma General Hosp*, 98 Wn.2d 708, 658 P.2d 1230 (1983)¹ on the basis that *Glover* Court relied upon the TRA, specifically RCW 4.22.040(1), which does not apply to timber trespass. However, the very basic agency principles explained by *Glover*, are grounded in pre-TRA common law and do *not* rely upon RCW 4.22 for their validity. In *Glover* the plaintiff asserted a claim for damages caused by negligent administration of anesthesia in Tacoma General Hospital by an anesthesiology resident/trainee, her supervising doctor and others. Plaintiff sued all defendants. Plaintiff brought two distinct claims against Tacoma General Hospital: (1) breach of "an independent duty to

¹ Superseded on other grounds by *Crown Controls, Inc. v. Smiley*, 110 Wn.2d 695, 756 P.2d 717 (1988).

provide proper treatment,” and (2) vicarious liability for the acts of the anesthesiologists. *Id.*, 989 Wn.2d at 712. The plaintiff settled with all defendants but the hospital for \$575,000, which the trial court found reasonable based upon a reasonableness hearing. On appeal, this Court reversed the trial court’s refusal to dismiss the vicarious liability claim and remanded the case for trial on the claim for breach of the “independent duty to provide proper treatment.” 98 Wn.2d at 700.

This Court’s discussion of joint and several liability in *Glover* is instructive with regard to Porter’s claims. Citing *Seattle-First Nat. Bank v. Shoreline Concrete Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 230, 588 P.2d 1308 (1978) – which was not a TRA case - the Court noted that the joint and several liability doctrine allows the plaintiff to proceed against one or all joint tortfeasors to obtain a full recovery, emphasizing that “the cornerstone of tort law is the assurance of full compensation to the injured party.”² This Court distinguished between *concurrent* tortfeasors versus *joint* tortfeasors:

On settling with one of the number of joint tortfeasors, the plaintiff may evaluate the relative conduct of each and determine that her best interest are served by a partial settlement. In such an instance she might settle for less than the full amount of her damages. Various factors, such as the percentage of such joint tortfeasor’s fault compared to the conduct of the non-settling defendant, may influence this decision. **In vicarious liability cases, on the other hand, the claim is based on the conduct of one individual and the liability is imposed as a matter of public policy to ensure**

² *Glover*, 98 Wn.2d at 722, citing *Shoreline Concrete*, 91 Wn.2d at 236.

that the plaintiff has the maximum opportunity to be fully compensated. When the plaintiff chooses to settle for less than the full amount, and that agent is solvent, the need to pursue the principal does not exist.³

Porter's theory of liability against Kirkendoll was not Kirkendoll's isolated breach of some independent duty, but rather the concerted breach of the same duty (violation of the timber trespass statute) by jointly and severally liable tortfeasors, with Porter's entitlement being to only a single recovery. Porter was entitled to collect all of his damages out of Kirkendoll, the Loggers, or both; but once he settled with the solvent agent, his right to pursue the principal on the same cause of action ceased to exist. The Court of Appeals erred in rejecting the *Glover* agency analysis, which state the controlling law, independent of the potential applicability of the TRA.

C. The Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with Washington cases holding that the actions of a party seeking equitable indemnity under the "ABC Rule" must be unconnected to the original litigation.

The Court of Appeals misapplied *LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC* 181 Wn.2d 177, 330 P.3d 190 (2014) in holding that the Loggers had a valid claim to assign to Porter for attorneys fees under the "ABC Rule." Washington courts follow the American rule in not awarding attorney fees absent a contract, statute, or recognized equitable

³ *Glover*, 98 Wn.2d at 722-23. Emphasis added.

exception. *City of Seattle v. McCreedy*, 131 Wn.2d 266, 273, 931 P.2d 156 (1997). The recognized ground in equity that the Court of Appeals applied is the so-called ABC Rule, which has been stated as:

- (1) A wrongful act or omission by A toward B; (2) such act or omission exposes or involves B in litigation with C; and (3) C was not connected with the initial transaction or event, viz., the wrongful act or omission of A toward B.

Woodley v. Benson & McLaughlin P.S., 79 Wn. App. 242, 246, 901 P.2d 1070 (1995). The fact that Porter sued the Loggers and Kirkendoll for joint and several liability involving an indivisible single recovery for harm negates any application of the ABC Rule to the instant case. If one were to apply the ABC Rule. A would be Kirkendoll; B would be the Loggers; and C would be Porter. Kirkendoll's wrongful act or omission toward the Loggers – *i.e.*, directing them to cut the wrong trees - would have to be the *sole* cause of litigation between the Loggers and Porter. As the *Woodley* court continued:

Washington courts require an exceptionally close causal nexus between part B's [Loggers'] exposure to litigation and the wrongful act or omission by party A [Kirkendoll]. The required causal showing is greater than in an ordinary tort action. If party A's conduct is not the only cause of party B's involvement in the litigation, and particularly if party B's own conduct contributed to party B's exposure in litigation, an action under *Manning*⁴ will not lie.

⁴ *Manning v. Loidhamer*, 13 Wn. App. 766, 538 P.2d 136 (1975)

Woodley, supra, at 247-48. (Emphasis added.) “[A] party may not recover attorney fees or costs of litigation under the theory of equitable indemnity if, in addition to the wrongful act or omission of A, there are reasons why B became involved in litigation with C.” *Jain v. J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc.*, 142 Wn. App. 574, 587, 177 P.3d 117 (2008). “The critical inquiry under the causation element of equitable indemnity is whether, apart from A's actions, B's own conduct caused it to be ‘exposed’ or ‘involved’ in litigation with C.” *Jain*, 142 Wn. App. at 587. “[E]ven if it is possible to apportion attorneys' fees related to a particular claim, where there are additional reasons why the party seeking fees was sued, fees are not available under the theory of equitable indemnity.” *Blueberry Place Homeowners Ass'n v. Northward Homes, Inc.*, 126 Wn. App. 352, 361, 110 P.3d 1145 (2005).

Here, the Loggers’ own actions got them involved in this litigation. Because the Loggers cut Porter’s trees they are strictly liable under the timber trespass statute, RCW 64.12.030 which states:

Whenever any person shall cut down, girdle or otherwise injure or carry off any tree, timber or straw from the land of another person... without lawful authority, in an action by such person... against the person committing such trespasses... if any judgment be given to the plaintiff, it shall be given for treble, the amount of damages claimed or assessed therefore, as the cause may be.

The Court of Appeals held in the instant case that every timber trespass is deemed intentional. The Loggers are automatically strictly liable for at least stumpage damages because of their own actions. If the Loggers can prove they did not act “willfully” they can avoid liability for treble damages per RCW 64.12.040, which provides:

If upon trial of such action it shall appear that a trespass is causal or is voluntary, or that the defendant has probably cause to believe that land on which such trespass was committed was his own or that of the person whose service or by whose direction the act was done... judgment shall only be given for single damages

A finding of willful conduct requires proof of actual intent to trespass, or at a minimum reckless disregard as to the boundary location. See, e.g., *Erickson v. Chase*, 156 Wn. App. 151, 231 P.3d 1261 (2010). The Court of Appeals found that “[a] genuine issue remained as to whether the Loggers were without personal fault here and had become subject to tort liability for the wrongful conduct of Kirkendoll, entitling the Loggers to amounts paid to discharge that liability” and remanded the case for further factfinding. *Porter v. Kirkendoll*, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 1638, *16, 2018 WL 3432940. In summary, by no stretch of the evidence can it be said the Loggers are strangers to this litigation.

The Court of Appeals sidesteps the issue of the Loggers’ direct involvement by positing that since Kirkendoll could be held individually liable to Porter by directing the timber trespass, Kirkendoll thereby

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