FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/14/2018 4:50 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

### No. 96214-6 COA No. 51615-2-II

# Supreme Court of the State of Washington

Jerry Porter and Karen Zimmer,

Respondents,

v.

Pepper E. Kirkendoll and Clarice N. Kirkendoll,

Petitioners.

### Porter and Zimmer's Answer to Petition for Review

Kevin Hochhalter WSBA # 43124 Attorney for Respondents

Olympic Appeals PLLC 4570 Avery Ln SE #C-217 Lacey, WA 98503 360-763-8008 kevin@olympicappeals.com with Jon E. Cushman WSBA# 16547

Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way S. Olympia, WA 98501 joncushman@cushmanlaw.com

### **

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

### 4. Argument

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will only accept a petition for review if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other published decisions or if it otherwise involves an issue of substantial public interest. On the issues that Kirkendoll raises in his petition, the Court of Appeals decided correctly and in complete harmony with prior published opinions. This Court should deny Kirkendoll's petition for review.

However, the Court of Appeals' decision does conflict with other published opinions setting forth well-accepted rules of statutory interpretation. The Court of Appeals misinterpreted the waste statute by allowing the statute's exception to entirely swallow its general provisions, rendering portions of the statute meaningless. This Court should accept review of this issue and should reverse and remand for further proceedings, including a trial on Porter's waste and other claims.

### 4.1 This Court should deny Kirkendoll's petition for review.

4.1.1 The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with other published decisions on the liability of a landowner who directs a contractor to commit timber trespass.

Kirkendoll is confused about the difference between direct and vicarious liability, as well as the level of control necessary to create vicarious liability through an agency relationship.

Kirkendoll's failure to understand these differences causes him to perceive a conflict where none exists. The Court of Appeals decision in this case is entirely consistent with the cases cited by Kirkendoll.

Vicarious liability "is based on the conduct of one individual [the agent,] and the liability is imposed [on the principal] as a matter of public policy to ensure that the plaintiff has the maximum opportunity to be fully compensated." *Glover v. Tacoma Gen. Hosp.*, 98 Wn.2d 708, 723, 658 P.2d 1230 (1983). In vicarious liability, the principal, who had the right to control the manner of the agent's performance, is held liable for the agent's negligence, even though the principal was not directly at fault. *See* David K. DeWolf and Keller W. Allen, *Tort Law and* 

Practice, 16 Wash. Prac. § 4:1 (2013). The Glover court held that when a plaintiff obtains a full release from a solvent agent, the vicarious liability of the principal is also released. Glover, 98 Wn.2d at 722-23.

In contrast to vicarious liability, claims of direct liability against a principal are not affected by release of an agent. *See Seattle W. Indus. v. David A. Mowat Co.*, 110 Wn.2d 1, 5, 750 P.2d 245 (1988) (rejecting a *Glover* argument where there were direct claims against the alleged principal).

This distinction has been decisive in timber trespass cases, where a landowner who directs a trespass is universally held directly, not vicariously, liable for the trespass. As a rule, a person who hires loggers and directs them where to cut is personally liable for any resulting trespass. *E.g.*, *Hill v. Cox*, 110 Wn. App. 394, 404, 41 P.3d 495 (2002). The landowner's liability for the trespass arises from **his own culpable misfeasance** in directing the contractor to enter the land of another. *Ventoza v. Anderson*, 14 Wn. App. 882, 895-96, 545 P.2d 1219 (1976).

In *Ventoza*, Anderson was hired to log all timber on a property neighboring Ventoza's property. *Ventoza*, 14 Wn. App. at 886. Anderson's employee and Clark, an independent contractor, together removed trees from 16 acres of Ventoza's land. *Id.* The jury held Anderson personally liable for triple damages for the trespass. *Id.* 

The appellate court approved of an instruction given by the trial court: "One who engages an independent contractor to perform logging operations is not liable to landowners for the trespass of the independent contractor or those employed by the independent contractor, whether as agents or independent contractors themselves, unless the trespass is the result of the advice or direction of the principal, or unless the principal has notice of the trespass and fails to interfere." *Ventoza*, 14 Wn. App. at 895. The court affirmed the jury verdict, finding there was evidence that supported Anderson's direct liability. *Id.* at 896.

The approved instruction illustrates the rule that a principal can be vicariously liable for the acts of an agent-employee, over whom the principal has control, but is not vicariously liable for the acts of an independent contractor, over whom the principal by definition does not have control.

However, as the appellate court noted, "where a trespass is committed on the property of another by the advice or direction of a defendant, the relationship between the immediate agent of the wrong and the person sought to be charged is unimportant. ... [The principal] is not entitled to nonliability for the acts of an independent contractor in such circumstances. A trespass will have occurred because of the culpable misfeasance of the [principal]." *Ventoza*, 14 Wn. App. at 896.

The Court of Appeals decision in this case is consistent with *Ventoza*. The Court of Appeals correctly held, "Because Kirkendoll directed the trespass in this case by instructing [the loggers] on where to cut, Porter also had a timber trespass claim against Kirkendoll independent of any ... agency theory." Slip op. at 12. The Court of Appeals understood that under *Hill* and *Ventoza*, Kirkendoll is directly, not vicariously, liable for the trespass. Slip op. at 12 n.6.

The Court of Appeals decision is also consistent with Bloedel Timberlands Dev. v. Timber Indus., 28 Wn. App. 669, 626 P.2d 30 (1981). In Bloedel, Bloedel sold some of its standing timber to Timber Industries. Bloedel, 28 Wn. App. at 671. Timber Industries hired subcontractors to handle the actual logging operations. Id. at 672. Timber Industries had a field agent on site, but neither the loggers nor the field agent noticed the trespass until it was too late. Id. at 672-73. A jury found Timber Industries liable for triple damages for the trespass. Id. at 673.

Timber Industries appealed, arguing that it was not vicariously liable for the loggers' trespass because they were independent contractors, not agents. *Bloedel*, 28 Wn. App. at 673. The appellate court affirmed the jury verdict, holding that it was supported by evidence in the record. *Id.* at 675. The court explained, "The crucial factor is the right of control which must

exist to prove agency. Control is not established if the asserted principal retains the right to supervise the asserted agent merely to determine if the agent performs in conformity with the contract. Instead, control establishes agency only if the principal controls the manner of performance." *Id.* at 674.

Going deeper, the court observed, "[The field agent] testified that he supervised the removal of the cut logs from the tract intermittently by making certain that they were properly tagged, branded and loaded for delivery to Mitsui. This would only be control of performance to determine if it was in conformity with the contractual terms—to see if [the loggers were] cutting the proper amount of timber. [The loggers] testified that [the field agent] supervised the entire logging operation nearly every day, including the cutting, branding and loading. This would show control of the manner of performance and support the agency finding." *Bloedel*, 28 Wn. App. at 675 (emphasis added).

Contrary to Kirkendoll's misinterpretation, the *Bloedel* court was emphatically **not** referring to the selection of which trees to cut when it affirmed the jury's agency finding. The court specifically noted that the field agent's testimony that he checked that the logs were properly tagged, branded, and loaded—a level of control much greater than simply telling the

loggers which trees to cut—was still insufficient to establish an agency relationship.

The Court of Appeals correctly held in this case, "Kirkendoll argues that an agency relationship existed because he controlled the location of the cutting. However, the manner of performance is how the cutting was to be done and no evidence was presented to show that aside from selecting the location, Kirkendoll had any control over the cutting of the trees. Thus, an agency relationship between Kirkendoll and the Loggers did not exist." Slip op. at 11. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Bloedel*, *Ventoza*, or any other published decisions on the liability of a landowner who directs a contractor to commit timber trespass. This Court should deny Kirkendoll's petition for review.

# 4.1.2 The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with other published decisions on the effect of release of an agent on the vicarious liability of a principal.

As noted above, when there is vicarious liability, the principal, who had the right to control the manner of the agent's performance, is held liable for the agent's negligence, even though the principal was not directly at fault. See 16 Wash. Prac. § 4:1. When a plaintiff obtains a full release from a solvent agent, the vicarious liability of the principal is also released. Glover, 98 Wn.2d at 722-23. In contrast to vicarious liability,

claims of direct liability against a principal are not affected by release of an agent. *See Seattle W. Indus.*, 110 Wn.2d at 5 (rejecting a *Glover* argument where there were direct claims against the alleged principal).

This case was never a vicarious liability case. Porter's claims against Kirkendoll were for Kirkendoll's **direct** liability for directing the trespass, under *Hill* and *Ventoza*. Because Porter's claims are direct, not vicarious, his settlement with the loggers does not release Kirkendoll from direct liability for the trespass.

Kirkendoll and the loggers are jointly and severally liable for the trespass. At trial, the jury will determine the total amount of Porter's damages. Kirkendoll will be liable for 100% of that jury verdict. Kirkendoll will also be entitled to an offset for the amount of the loggers' settlement. But until the jury is given the opportunity to determine the total damages, Kirkendoll is not released.

This result does not conflict with Vanderpool v. Grange
Ins. Ass'n, 110 Wn.2d 483, 756 P.2d 111 (1998). In Vanderpool,
the court followed Glover in holding that "settlement with a
solvent agent release[s] the vicariously liable principal."

Vanderpool, 110 Wn.2d at 487 (emphasis added). The Court of
Appeals correctly determined in this case that there was no
agency relationship and Kirkendoll was directly, not vicariously,

liable for the trespass. Slip op. at 11. Consistent with Vanderpool, Kirkendoll was not released because his liability was not vicarious.

The Court of Appeals decision is also consistent with *Glover*. In *Glover*, the plaintiff asserted both direct and vicarious claims against the hospital. *Glover*, 98 Wn.2d at 710. The appellate court held that the vicarious claims were released by plaintiff's settlement with the agents, but the plaintiff's direct claims against the hospital remained for trial, where the hospital would receive an offset for the amount of the settlement. *Id.* at 711.

Here, because there were no vicarious liability claims, none were released. Slip op. at 11. Because Porter's claims against Kirkendoll were direct, they remain for trial, where Kirkendoll will be eligible for an offset against the jury verdict in the amount of the settlement. This result is entirely consistent with *Glover*, *Vanderpool*, and other published decisions on the effect of release of an agent on the vicarious liability of a principal. This Court should deny Kirkendoll's petition for review.

<sup>1</sup> It should not be lost on Kirkendoll, however, that he still faces liability for the settlement amount on the assigned indemnity claims from the loggers.

# 4.1.3 The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with other published decisions on the elements of the ABC Rule.

Kirkendoll misinterprets the Court of Appeals decision in this case in order to manufacture a conflict that does not exist. Kirkendoll correctly recognizes that a claim for equitable indemnification (the "ABC Rule") is a recognized ground in equity for an award of attorney's fees and other litigation expenses. Petition at 11-12.

Under the ABC rule, when A acts wrongfully toward B, causing B to become involved in litigation with C, and C was not privy to A's wrongful act, A is liable to B for B's attorney's fees and litigation costs incurred in defending C's claims. *LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 117, 123-24, 330 P.3d 190 (2014).

Porter argued that the required elements of the ABC Rule are all met. First, Kirkendoll admitted he told the loggers to cut everything up to the road. This was a misrepresentation of his property boundaries—a wrongful act by Kirkendoll (A) toward the loggers (B). Second, the loggers (B) relied on the misrepresentation, and thereby became involved in this litigation with Porter (C). Third, Porter (C) was not involved in Kirkendoll's wrongful act. Under the ABC rule, Kirkendoll is

liable for the fees and costs the loggers incurred in defending themselves against Porter.

Kirkendoll argues that the loggers' ABC Rule claim fails if their own conduct caused them to be exposed to Porter's claims. But, as Kirkendoll argued in the trial court, it is possible for a jury to conclude from the evidence that the loggers were not at fault. *E.g.*, RP 37:16-18 ("...they had an independent duty to verify what they were doing, but the jury finds that they didn't breach that duty..."). Viewed in a light favorable to Porter (the nonmoving party on this issue), the evidence could support the ABC Rule claim.

The Court of Appeals correctly held, "A genuine issue remained as to whether the Loggers were without personal fault here." Slip op. at 14. The ABC Rule claim must proceed to trial for a determination of this material issue of fact. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with other published decisions on the elements of the ABC Rule. This Court should deny Kirkendoll's petition for review.

- 4.2 This Court should accept review of the issue under the waste statute, RCW 4.24.630, raised by Porter in this Answer.
  - 4.2.1 The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with other published decisions when it misinterprets the waste statute's exception in a way that eviscerates the legislative intent behind the statute's general provisions, rendering them meaningless.

The waste statute provides, "Every person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber, ... or wrongfully causes waste or injury to the land ... is liable to the injured party for treble the amount of the damages caused by the removal, waste, or injury." RCW 4.24.630(1). There is also an exception at the end of the statutory language: "This section does not apply in any case where liability for damages is provided under RCW 64.12.030," the timber trespass statute. RCW 4.24.630(2).

But these two provisions conflict with each other. A person is liable under for triple damages under the timber trespass statute when they "cut down, girdle, or otherwise injure, or carry off any tree ... on the land of another person." RCW 64.12.030. Thus, every "person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber" under the waste statute will also be liable for "carry[ing] off any tree" under the timber trespass statute. If blindly applied, the waste statute's exception

entirely swallows its general rule, rendering the "removes timber" language of the waste statute entirely meaningless.

A court's interpretation of a statute must give effect to every provision. *State v. Costich*, 152 Wn.2d 463, 470, 98 P.3d 795 (2004). Statutory exceptions "are narrowly construed in order to give effect to legislative intent underlying the general provisions." *Swinomish Indian Tribal Cmty. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 178 Wn.2d 571, 582, 311 P.3d 6 (2013). Any doubt should be resolved in favor of the general provisions. *State v. Wright*, 84 Wn.2d 645, 652, 529 P.2d 453 (1974).

Contrary to these well-settled rules of statutory interpretation, in this case the Court of Appeals favored the exception over the general provisions. Slip op. at 14, 15-16. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with these published opinions. This Court should accept review of this issue.

In order to give meaning to all of the statutory language, this Court should harmonize the provisions. This can be done by interpreting the exception narrowly to mean that the additional remedies of RCW 4.24.630 (e.g., attorney's fees and expert costs) would apply generally to "[e]very person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber," except to the extent that the statute duplicates remedies already available under RCW 64.12.030. Duplicated remedies (e.g., triple damages) would remain available under RCW 64.12.030 and its existing body of

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